WILEY - VCH

Edited by Marialaura Di Somma, Christina Papadimitriou, Giorgio Graditi, and Koen Kok

Integrated Local Energy Communities

From Concepts and Enabling Conditions to Optimal Planning and Operation



Integrated Local Energy Communities

Integrated Local Energy Communities

From Concepts and Enabling Conditions to Optimal Planning and Operation

Edited by Marialaura Di Somma, Christina Papadimitriou, Giorgio Graditi, and Koen Kok

WILEY VCH

Editors

Marialaura Di Somma

Department of Industrial Engineering University of Naples Federico II Piazzale Tecchio, 80 Naples, 80125 Italy

Christina Papadimitriou

Eindhoven University of Technology-TU/e Groene Loper 19 Eindhoven 5612 AP The Netherlands

Giorgio Graditi

ENEA Lungotevere Thaon di Revel 76 Rome, 00196 Italy

Koen Kok

Eindhoven University of Technology-TU/e Groene Loper 19 Eindhoven 5612 AP The Netherlands

Cover Image: © Adyna/Getty Images

All books published by **WILEY-VCH** are carefully produced. Nevertheless, authors, editors, and publisher do not warrant the information contained in these books, including this book, to be free of errors. Readers are advised to keep in mind that statements, data, illustrations, procedural details or other items may inadvertently be inaccurate.

Library of Congress Card No.: applied for

British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available on the Internet at <http://dnb.d-nb.de>.

© 2025 WILEY-VCH GmbH, Boschstraße 12, 69469 Weinheim, Germany

All rights reserved (including those of translation into other languages, text and data mining and training of artificial technologies or similar technologies). No part of this book may be reproduced in any form – by photoprinting, microfilm, or any other means – nor transmitted or translated into a machine language without written permission from the publishers. Registered names, trademarks, etc. used in this book, even when not specifically marked as such, are not to be considered unprotected by law.

Print ISBN: 978-3-527-35235-7 ePDF ISBN: 978-3-527-84330-5 ePub ISBN: 978-3-527-84329-9 oBook ISBN: 978-3-527-84328-2

Typesetting Straive, Chennai, India

Contents

Preface xvii

1 Introduction: The Need for Sector Coupling and the Energy Transition Goals 1

> Marialaura Di Somma, Christina Papadimitriou, Giorgio Graditi, and Koen Kok

۱v

- 1.1 Introduction 1
- 1.1.1 The Needs and Challenges of the Current Energy System 1
- 1.1.2 What Is Sector Coupling? 2
- 1.2 Opportunities for Sector Coupling to Contribute to Decarbonization 4
- 1.2.1 Electrification and Sector Coupling 4
- 1.2.2 Enhancing System Stability and Reliability at the Grid Level Through Sector Coupling 6
- 1.2.3 Decarbonization of Heating and Cooling in Building Environment (End-User Level) Through Sector Coupling 9
- 1.3 European Energy Legislation and Initiatives Supporting Sector Coupling 10
- 1.3.1 Directives 10
- 1.3.2 Policy 11
- 1.3.3 Initiatives 11
- 1.4 Main Barriers to Implementation 12
- 1.5 The Integrated Local Energy Community Concept to Foster Sector Coupling at the Local Level Through End-Users Engagement 14 List of Abbreviations 16 References 17
- 2 Current Status of Multi-carrier Energy Systems in Europe with Main Limitations and Shortcomings to the Optimal Use of Local Energy Resources 19 Andrei Morch, Hanne Sæle, Jesús Fraile Ardanuy, Giuseppe Conti,

Gabriele Comodi, and Mosè Rossi

- 2.1 Introduction 19
- 2.2 Methodology 19

vi Contents

2.3	The Scoping Study: Road Maps and the Overall Pan-European Priorities 20
2.3.1	Energy Policies. Which Are Preferred in Europe (2020–2050) 20
2.3.1.1	The Pan-European Dimension 21
2.3.1.2	The Reference Scenario Toward 2050 22
2313	Vision 2050 23
232	Expected Roll-Out of the Different Technologies in the 2030
2.5.2	Horizon 24
2321	Deployment of Hydrogen Infrastructure 24
2.3.2.1	Energy Storage 25
2.3.2.2	Hydrogen Storage 27
2.3.2.3	Hybrid Solutions 27
2.3.2.4	Smart Matering System as a Key Enabling Technology 28
2.3.2.3	Overview of Policies Supporting the Empowerment of the Final
2.3.3	Consumer 28
234	Energy Communities - Different Actors and Operations 20
2.3.4	Summarizing the Sconing Study 20
2.3.5	Paview of Sector Coupling Technologies for Integrated Local Energy
2.4	Communities 20
2 4 1	Definition of Connecting Technologies 21
2.4.1	Connecting Technologies (Progumer Level) 21
2.4.2	Uset Dump 22
2.4.2.1	Combined Cooling Heat and Power (CCHP) 22
2.4.2.2	EV Charging Station 22
2.4.2.3	Ev Charging Station 32
2.4.3	Connecting Technologies (Community Level) 32
2.4.3.1	Electrolyzers 33
2.4.3.2	Electric Planes, Electric Ferries, and Hydrogen Transport such as Trains,
	Vessels, and Lorries 34
2.4.3.3	Desalination 34
2.5	Review of Limitations and Barriers for the Optimal Use of the Local
	Energy Resources 35
2.5.1	Introduction 35
2.5.2	Technical Limitations 35
2.5.2.1	Low Efficiency 35
2.5.2.2	Low Flexibility 37
2.5.2.3	Security Concerns 38
2.5.2.4	Environmental Issues 38
2.5.2.5	Spatial Issues 38
2.5.2.6	Cost and Cost-effectiveness 39
2.5.3	Regulatory Limitations 39
2.5.3.1	Market-Related Issues 40
2.5.3.2	Need for Revising Grid Codes at the Distribution Level 40
2.5.3.3	Definition of Roles and Responsibilities of Energy

Communities 41

Contents vii

- 2.5.3.4 Efficiency Targets for Cogeneration 41
- 2.5.3.5 Regulatory Barriers Related to Hydrogen 41
- 2.5.3.6 Integration of Energy Storage 42
- 2.5.3.7 Standardization of the Infrastructure for EVs 44
- 2.5.3.8 Integration of EVs into the Electricity Market 44
- 2.6 Conclusions and Lessons Learned 45 Acknowledgment 46 List of Abbreviations 46 References 47
- **3** The Concept of Integrated Local Energy Communities: Key Features and Enabling Technologies 55
 - Amedeo Buonanno, Martina Caliano, Gianfranco Chicco, Marialaura Di Somma, Giorgio Graditi, Valeria Palladino, Christina Papadimitriou, and Hanne Sæle
- 3.1 Introduction 55
- 3.2 Key Features of ILECs 56
- 3.2.1 Policy and Regulation Analysis for REC and CEC 57
- 3.2.2 Differences Between CEC, REC, and ILEC 58
- 3.2.3 Organizational Structure 58
- 3.2.4 Involved Stakeholders 59
- 3.2.5 Motivation for Establishment 59
- 3.2.6 Energy Carriers 60
- 3.2.7 Energy Technologies 61
- 3.3 Enabling Technologies 62
- 3.3.1 Demand-Side Flexibility Technologies 62
- 3.3.1.1 Energy Conversion Technologies 62
- 3.3.1.2 Storage Technologies 66
- 3.3.2 Distributed Renewable Energy Technologies 75
- 3.3.2.1 Photovoltaic Systems 75
- 3.3.2.2 Interactions Between Photovoltaic Supply and Demand 77
- 3.3.3 Information and Communication Technologies 79
- 3.3.3.1 Data Management Technologies 80
- 3.3.3.2 Control and Management Technologies 81
- 3.3.3.3 Technologies for Analytics 82
- 3.3.3.4 Internet of Things (IoT) 84
- 3.3.3.5 Communication Technologies 85
- 3.3.3.6 Computing Technologies 86
- 3.3.3.7 Cybersecurity 87
- 3.3.3.8 Blockchain 88
- 3.4 Summary of Main Barriers to the Use of Enabling Technologies in the ILEC 89
 Acknowledgments 91
 - List of Abbreviations 91
 - References 92

viii	Contents

4	Actors, Business Models, and Key Issues for the
	Implementation of Integrated Local Energy Communities 99
	Martina Caliano, Alberto Borghetti, Amedeo Buonanno, Marialaura Di
	Somma, Salvatore Fabozzi, Giorgio Graditi, Carlo Alberto Nucci,
	Christina Papadimitriou, and Peter Richardson
4.1	Introduction 99
4.2	Actors' Roles and Interactions Within ILECs 101
4.3	Key Issues for the Implementation of ILECs 105
4.3.1	Key Technological Issues 106
4.3.1.1	Grid Integration 109
4.3.1.2	Implementing Energy Management Systems 109
4.3.1.3	Promoting Energy Storage 110
4.3.1.4	Implementation of Smart Metering 110
4.3.1.5	Data Management and Cybersecurity 110
4.3.1.6	Scalability 111
4.3.1.7	Local Ancillary Services 111
4.3.2	Key Socioeconomic Issues 111
4.3.2.1	High Initial Costs, Inadequate Economic Incentives, and
	Split-Incentives 111
4.3.2.2	Increasing Energy Autonomy and Security of Supply and Reducing
	Energy Poverty 112
4.3.2.3	Increasing Community Engagement and Willingness to Pay 113
4.3.3	Key Environmental Issues 113
4.3.3.1	Spatial and Noise Issues 114
4.3.3.2	Waste Management and Disposal 115
4.3.3.3	Emission Mitigation 116
4.3.4	Key Institutional Issues 117
4.3.4.1	Increasing Trust and Motivation of Citizens 117
4.3.4.2	Promoting Energy Democracy 118
4.3.4.3	ILEC Ownership Model 118
4.3.4.4	Funding Local Projects 118
4.3.4.5	Support Schemes, Incentives, and Targets 119
4.3.4.6	(Self-)governance 119
4.3.4.7	Regulatory Issues and Policy Framework 120
4.3.4.8	Institutional (Re-)design 120
4.4	Business Models for ILECs 121
4.4.1	Overview of Selected Business Models 121
4.4.2	Development of Business Models 124
4.4.2.1	BM A – Flexibility for Local Balancing and Increase of Self-consumption
	for Multicarrier Systems 124
4.4.2.2	BM G – Heat Recovery and Storage for Effective Integration of District
	Heating and Cooling 127
4.5	Conclusion and Lessons Learned on Barriers, Benefits, and Policy
	Implications for ILECs Implementation 130
4.5.1	Barriers 130

4.5.2	Benefits 131
4.5.3	Policy Implications 132
	Acknowledgments 133
	List of Abbreviations 133
	References 134
5	Comprehensive Analysis and Future Outlook of Planning and
	Operation Approaches for Multicarrier Energy Systems Under
	the Integrated Local Energy Community Concept 139
	Christina Papadimitriou, Marialaura Di Somma, Dimitrios Izelepis,
	Koen Kok, and Giorgio Graditi
5.1	Introduction 139
5.2	Optimal Planning of Multicarrier Energy Systems 141
5.2.1	Introduction to Optimal Planning and Technical Aspects 141
5.2.2	Decision-making Process for Multicarrier Energy Systems Planning 142
5.2.3	Features and Modeling Approaches of Optimization Problems for
	the Multicarrier Energy Systems Planning 143
5.2.4	Exact Modeling/Exact Optimization Dilemma 144
5.2.5	Need for a Multiobjective Approach 145
5.2.6	Analysis of Works in the Literature Dealing with Multicarrier Energy
	Systems Planning 147
5.3	Operational Planning of Multicarrier Energy Systems for Day-Ahead
	Optimization and Decision-Making Under Uncertainties 147
5.4	Optimal Operation of Multicarrier Energy Systems in Real Time Under
	Multiobjective Approaches Considering Demand-Response Programs
	and Market Interaction 152
5.4.1	Real-Time Operation of Multicarrier Energy Systems: Drivers and
5.4.0	Challenges 152
5.4.2	Multiobjective Approaches for Optimal Real-Time Operation 153
5.4.3	Demand-Response Programs and Market Interaction 154
5.4.3.1	Market Jutan et an arith Multicarrier Energy Systems 154
5.4.3.2	Market Interaction with Multicarrier Energy Systems 154
5.5	Energy Systems 156
551	Energy Systems 150
5.5.1	Multicerrier Energy Systems 156
5 5 0	Outlook on the Complexities and Challenges of Data and Data
5.5.2	Architectures 158
553	Developments and Trends on System Architectures and Control
5.5.5	Technologies 160
5531	Energy Management Systems 162
5532	Energy Systems Modeling 163
5533	Virtualization 164
5.5.3.4	Cloud Computing 164
5.5.3 5	Digital Twins 165
5.5.5.5	

x Contents

5536	Cybersecurity 165
5.6	Holistic Approach in Planning and Operating an ILEC 166
561	Higher Hierarchical Level: Planning Phase 166
562	Lower Hierarchical Laver: Operational Analysis 167
563	Lowest Hierarchical Layer: Real-Time Operation and Assets'
51015	Control 168
564	Interaction with External Entities 170
5641	Network Interaction 171
5642	Local Market Interaction 172
5643	Wholesale Market Interaction 172
5.6.4.4	Interaction with Aggregators/Retailers 172
5.7	Conclusion 172
017	List of Abbreviations 173
	References 174
6	Analytical Framework for Coordinated Planning and Operation
	of Multicarrier Energy Systems 187
	Marialaura Di Somma, Christina Papadimitriou, Anastasios Oulis Rousis,
	Angelos Patsidis, Miadreza Shafie-Khah, Vahid Shahbazbegian, and
	Magnus Askeland
6.1	Introduction 187
6.1.1	Benefits of Local Multicarrier Energy Systems 187
6.1.2	The Optimization Framework for Coordinated Planning and Operation
	of MCES 189
6.2	Modeling of Energy Technologies in MCES 191
6.2.1	Renewable Energy Sources (RESs) 191
6.2.1.1	Solar PV 192
6.2.1.2	Solar Thermal 192
6.2.1.3	Wind Turbines 192
6.2.2	Primary Energy Technologies 192
6.2.2.1	Cogeneration Plants 192
6.2.2.2	Boilers 193
6.2.3	Secondary Energy Technologies 193
6.2.3.1	Reversible Heat Pump 193
6.2.3.2	Single-Stage Absorption Chiller 194
6.2.4	Storage Systems 194
6.2.4.1	Electrical Energy Storage 194
6.2.4.2	
	Thermal Energy Storage 194
6.2.4.3	Thermal Energy Storage 194 Hydrogen Storage 195
6.2.4.3 6.2.4.4	Thermal Energy Storage 194 Hydrogen Storage 195 Electric Vehicles 195
6.2.4.3 6.2.4.4 6.3	Thermal Energy Storage 194 Hydrogen Storage 195 Electric Vehicles 195 The Optimal Design Problem for MCES 196
6.2.4.3 6.2.4.4 6.3 6.3.1	Thermal Energy Storage 194 Hydrogen Storage 195 Electric Vehicles 195 The Optimal Design Problem for MCES 196 Objective Function 196
6.2.4.3 6.2.4.4 6.3 6.3.1 6.3.2	Thermal Energy Storage 194 Hydrogen Storage 195 Electric Vehicles 195 The Optimal Design Problem for MCES 196 Objective Function 196 Constraints 197
6.2.4.3 6.2.4.4 6.3 6.3.1 6.3.2 6.3.3	Thermal Energy Storage 194 Hydrogen Storage 195 Electric Vehicles 195 The Optimal Design Problem for MCES 196 Objective Function 196 Constraints 197 Solution Methodology 198

Contents xi

- 6.4 Optimal Day-Ahead Scheduling of MCES Under Uncertainties and by Considering DR Programs 200
- 6.4.1 Objective Function 201
- 6.4.2 Constraints 201
- 6.4.2.1 Electricity Network Constraints 201
- 6.4.2.2 Gas Network Constraints 202
- 6.4.2.3 Demand Response Constraints 203
- 6.4.2.4 Uncertainty Consideration 203
- 6.4.3 Solution Methodology 204
- 6.4.4 Case Study and Simulation Results 204
- 6.4.4.1 Simulation Results 205
- 6.5 Optimal Real-Time Operation of MCES 209
- 6.5.1 Objective Function 210
- 6.5.2 Constraints 210
- 6.5.3 Solution Methodology 211
- 6.5.4 Case Study and Simulation Results 212
- 6.6 Analysis of Commercial Tools for the Optimal Design and Operation of MCES *215*
- 6.7 Conclusions and Lessons Learned 220 List of Abbreviations 220 References 221
- 7 Integrated Flexibility Solutions for Effective Congestion Management in Distribution Grids 225

Bart van der Holst, Gijs Verhoeven, Milad Kazemi, Christina Papadimitriou, Marialaura Di Somma, and Koen Kok

- 7.1 Introduction 225
- 7.2 Congestion Management in Distribution Systems 226
- 7.2.1 The Distribution System and The System Operator 226
- 7.2.2 Developments in the Distribution Grid 228
- 7.2.2.1 Growth of Distributed Renewable Energy Resources 229
- 7.2.2.2 Electrification of Demand 229
- 7.2.2.3 Improved Metering 230
- 7.2.2.4 Higher Controllability of Assets 230
- 7.2.3 Congestion in Distribution Grids 231
- 7.2.4 Traditional Mitigation Strategies for Congestion 232
- 7.2.4.1 Grid Reinforcements 233
- 7.2.4.2 Grid Reconfiguration 233
- 7.2.4.3 Using Reserve Capacity 233
- 7.2.4.4 Rejecting Grid Access 234
- 7.3 Integrated Flexibility in ILECs 234
- 7.3.1 The Concept of Integrated Flexibility 235
- 7.3.2 Optimal Flexibility Management of Electric Vehicles in ILEC Context 237
- 7.3.3 Optimal Home (Building) Energy Management System 241

xii	Contents

- 7.3.3.1 Mathematical Model 242
- 7.3.3.2 Case Study and Results 245
- 7.4 Instruments for Flexibility Activation for Congestion Management 247
- 7.4.1 Developments in Europe 247
- 7.4.2 Examples of Market-Based Instruments in Practice 248
- 7.4.2.1 GOPACS 248
- 7.4.2.2 Piclo Flex 249
- 7.4.3 Examples of Tariff Instruments in Practice 250
- 7.4.3.1 Capacity Tariff 250
- 7.4.3.2 Bandwidth Tariff 250
- 7.4.4 Simulation Case Study 251
- 7.5 Challenges and Outlook 254
- 7.5.1 Market Barriers 254
- 7.5.2 Regulatory Barriers 254
- 7.5.3 Technological Barriers 255
- 7.5.4 Customer-Related Barriers 255 Nomenclature 256
 - References 259
- 8 Peer-to-Peer Energy Trading Approaches: Maximizing the Active Participation of the Prosumers in the Multi-carrier Energy Communities 265

Andrés F. Cortés-Borray, Amaia González-Garrido, Ander Z. Gómez, Joseba J. Huarte, and Nerea R. Carames

- 8.1 Introduction 265
- 8.2 Background and P2P Concept 266
- 8.2.1 Background, Alternatives, Initiatives, and Trends 266
- 8.2.2 P2P Energy Trading Concept and Challenges 268
- 8.3 P2P Methods and Logical Architecture 270
- 8.3.1 P2P Market Design 270
- 8.3.1.1 Community-Based or Centralized Markets 271
- 8.3.1.2 Full P2P or Decentralized Markets 272
- 8.3.1.3 Hybrid or Distributed Markets 272
- 8.3.2 P2P Market Implementation 272
- 8.3.2.1 Peer Decision-Making Process 272
- 8.3.2.2 Transaction Price Determination Process 273
- 8.3.2.3 Market Simulation and Clearing 275
- 8.4 Literature Review 276
- 8.4.1 Market Design and P2P Trading 276
- 8.4.2 Interaction with the Wholesale and Multi-energy Markets 279
- 8.4.3 Contribution to Ancillary Services 284
- 8.4.4 Consideration of Multi-energy Network Constraints 285
- 8.5 P2P Approach in the eNeuron Project 288
- 8.5.1 Overview of the eNeuron Concept 288
- 8.5.2 eNeuron P2P Market Platform 289

- 8.5.2.1 Architecture 289
- 8.5.2.2 Algorithm Definition 290
- 8.6 Conclusion 291 Acknowledgment 291 List of Abbreviations 292 References 293
- 9 Integration of Multiple Energy Communities: Transaction Prices, Reactive Power Control, and Ancillary Services 299 Alberto Borghetti, Tohid Harighi, Carlo Alberto Nucci, Giorgio Graditi,
 - Marialaura Di Somma, and Martina Caliano
- 9.1 Introduction 299
- 9.2 Multiple Energy Communities 300
- 9.2.1 Optimization Model 300
- 9.2.2 Case Study and Analysis of the Results 304
- 9.3 Provision of Reactive Power Compensation Services 307
- 9.3.1 Optimization Model 309
- 9.3.2 Calculation of the Maximum Up and Down Flexibilities 311
- 9.3.3 Case Study and Analysis of the Results 312
- 9.4 Electromobility Integration 315
- 9.5 Conclusion and Key Learnings 317 Acknowledgments 317 List of Abbreviations 318 References 318
- 10Validation of Energy Hub Solutions Through Simulation and
Testing in a Lab Environment and Real World323

Gabriele Comodi, Mosè Rossi, Alessandro Romagnoli, Alessio Tafone, and Andreas Tuerk

- 10.1 Introduction 323
- 10.2 Energy Hub and Micro Energy Hub Architecture 324
- 10.2.1 "mEH" and "EH" 325
- 10.2.1.1 mEH 325
- 10.2.1.2 EH 328
- 10.3 EH and mEH Validation Through Simulation and Testing in Lab Environment *329*
- 10.3.1 EH of Università Politecnica delle Marche 329
- 10.3.1.1 Technologies, Energy Vectors, and Networks 330
- 10.3.2 EH for Aggregators: EV-Charging Station 331
- 10.3.3 SMES Project in Singapore 333
- 10.3.3.1 The Cryo-polygeneration Demonstrator (CPD) for Nanyang Technological University 334
- 10.3.3.2 Hydrogen Hub for the Decarbonization of Singapore Industrial Port Area (IPA) 337

xiv	Contents

- 10.4 EH and mEH Validation Through Simulation and Testing in Real World 339
- 10.4.1 Italian City Scale Multi-energy Microgrid (Osimo) 339
- 10.4.1.1 EH Architecture 340
- 10.4.1.2 mEH: Large User (CHP) 340
- 10.4.1.3 mEH: Battery in the MV/LV Network 340
- 10.4.1.4 mEH: Smart Building 341
- 10.4.1.5 mEH: Local Energy Community 342
- 10.4.1.6 Flexibility Results 342
- 10.5 EH and mEH: An Architecture for Renewable Energy Communities *343*
- 10.5.1 An Overview of Energy Communities Rollout in Europe 344
- 10.6 Conclusions and Lessons Learned 347 Acknowledgments 347 List of Abbreviations 348 References 348
- 11Energy Communities as an Alternative Way of Organizing the
Energy System in Europe: Key Societal Aspects353
 - Anna J. Wieczorek, Natascha van Bommel, Amira El-Feiaz, Nikki Kluskens, Irene Niet, Luc van Summeren, Johanna Höffken, Floor Alkemade, Laura van den Berghe, Claudia Meloni, Giorgio Graditi, and Marialaura Di Somma
- 11.1 Introduction 353
- 11.2 A Sociotechnical Approach 354
- 11.3 Changing Energy System 356
- 11.4 Energy Communities as New Actors 358
- 11.4.1 Energy Communities' Characteristics, Activities, and Scale of Deployment 359
- 11.4.2 Other Emerging Actors 360
- 11.4.3 Community Acceptance 361
- 11.5 Technology Facilitating or Hindering Energy Communities? 363
- 11.5.1 Three Types of Relevant Technologies 364
- 11.5.2 Opportunities, Barriers, and Impacts of Digitalization 365
- 11.6 Regulations and Markets as Key Institutional Structures *367*
- 11.6.1 Markets Reproducing Path Dependencies 367
- 11.6.2 Clean Energy Package New Opportunities for European Energy Communities? *368*
- 11.7 How It Looks in Practice 370
- 11.7.1 Energética Cooperativa in Spain How to Foster Social Acceptance 370
- 11.7.2 cVPP in Loenen Gent How to Harness the Power of ICT 372
- 11.7.3 Service Local Token Economy in Italy How to Deal with Market Barriers *373*
- 11.8 Conclusions 374 List of Abbreviations 376 References 376

12	Guidelines and Recommendations for Optimal
	Implementation of Integrated Local Energy Communities 389
	Leonard E.R. Perez, Bernadette Fina, Branislav Iglár, Carolin Monsberger,
	Klara Maggauer, Natália de A.B. Weber, Georgios Yiasoumas, George
	Georghiou, José Villar, João Mello, and Rad Stanev
12.1	Introduction 389
12.2	Main Challenges of Integrated Local Energy Communities
	Implementation at the European Level 390
12.3	Guidelines and Recommendations for Optimal Implementation of
	ILECs 391
12.3.1	Technical Dimension 392
12.3.1.1	Implementation of Strategies to Reduce Grid Reinforcement Needs due
	to the Installation of New Assets 392
12.3.1.2	Alternatives to Deal with Generation Source Fluctuations 393
12.3.1.3	Coordination and Control Between System Operators and ILECs 394
12.3.1.4	Determination of Suitable Location for ILEC Project Implementation
	Through Novel Assessment Tools and Technical Studies 394
12.3.1.5	Acceleration of Smart Meters Installation 394
12.3.1.6	New Research Lines in the Field of Energy Community 395
12.3.2	Regulatory Dimension 395
12.3.2.1	Standardization, Transposition, and Harmonization of Energy
	Community EU Directives 396
12.3.2.2	Simplification of License Procedures and Paperwork 396
12.3.2.3	Taxing and Incentive Schemes Reformulation Within Regulatory
	Frameworks 397
12.3.2.4	Regulations for the Data Exchange and Privacy 397
12.3.2.5	New Regulations for the Peer-to-Peer Trading 397
12.3.2.6	Creation of Policies in Favor of Vulnerable Social Communities 398
12.3.3	Environmental Dimension 398
12.3.3.1	Including Landscape Impact Cost Analysis and Life Cycle Assessment
	(LCA) 399
12.3.3.2	Recyclability of Raw Materials and Waste Management 400
12.3.3.3	Rising the Environmental Value of ILECs by Improving GHG Emissions
	Taxing Exemption Schemes 400
12.3.4	Economic Dimension 401
12.3.4.1	Need of Cost-effective Tools for Planning and Managing Energy
	Communities, Including New Energy Carriers 402
12.3.4.2	Suitable Economic Incentives 402
12.3.4.3	Flexibility Market Regulation and New Business Models 402
12.3.4.4	Providing Financial Tools to the Service of the ILECs 403
12.3.4.5	Enhancing the Competitiveness in the Energy Market and Supporting
	Financial Viability of Emerging ILEC Projects 403
12.3.4.6	Development of Blockchain Technologies for P2P Energy Trading 403
12.3.5	Social Dimension 404
12.3.5.1	Challenges of Introducing ILEC-related Projects into Communities 405

xvi Contents

12.3.5.2 12.3.5.3	Engagement of Citizens Through Energy Communities 406 Implementation of Strategies to Increase the Social Acceptance of the Communities with Respect to the ILEC Paradigm 407
12.3.5.4	Engagement and Cooperation Between ILECs, Municipalities, Stakeholders and Other Actors 408
12.4	Conclusion 409 Acknowledgment 410 List of Abbreviations 410 References 411
13	Conclusions and Key Findings on the Integrated Local Energy Community Concepts and Related Applications 415 <i>Marialaura Di Somma, Christina Papadimitriou, Giorgio Graditi, and</i> <i>Koen Kok</i> List of Abbreviations 423

Index 425

Preface

Decarbonization of the energy system requires an integrated approach across all different sectors, such as electricity, heating, cooling, and transportation. Sector coupling, through the integrated use of different energy carriers, both at the supply side (e.g. by converting (surplus) electricity into other forms, such as hydrogen) and at the demand side (e.g. by using residual heat from power generation processes for district heating), is represented as a key for reaching the ambitious climate neutrality by 2050. The main benefit associated to sector coupling is related to the increase of flexibility of the energy system through the coordinated management and operation of different sectors and the exploitation of interplay of multiple energy carriers and related technologies. On the other hand, the ongoing transition from traditional centralized energy systems to decentralized schemes brings new opportunities for distributed energy resources integration and for the evolution of the role of final users from passive consumers to active users through energy communities. Combining sector coupling at the local level with energy communities leads to the innovative concept of integrated local energy communities (ILECs), which represent an effective way of managing available energy resources at local level by also fostering consumer engagement and empowerment. The ILEC concept may refer to a set of energy users deciding to make common choices in terms of satisfying their energy needs, in order to maximize the benefits deriving from this collegial approach, thanks to the implementation of a variety of electricity and thermal technologies and energy storages and the optimized management of energy flows. The aim of this book is to present in a thorough and comprehensive way all the critical aspects that are needed when designing, planning, and operating an ILEC from end to end. This book's objective and ambition are timely, as the integrated energy system is an important means to achieve the energy transition and minimize dependence on fossil fuels.

To this end, the following key topics are comprehensively discussed throughout the book:

• Conceptualization of ILECs with analysis of key features, enabling technologies including ICT, actors, business models and key issues for their implementation, and validation of ILEC solutions through simulation and testing in a lab environment and real-world applications.

xviii Preface

- Presentation of innovative approaches for the coordinated planning and operation of ILECs, with integrated flexibility identification and employment, and for peer-to-peer (P2P) energy trading.
- Analysis of key social aspects related to the reorganization of the energy system according to the energy community paradigm.
- Definition of guidelines and recommendations for optimal implementation of ILECs.

The book supports readers in finding innovative solutions and detailed insights for the planning and operation of ILECs while fostering research advances to the state of the art on this topic. The book does this by presenting approaches, methodologies, critical assessments, real-time applications, as well as efficient optimization models and algorithms for MCES and emerging technologies/carriers including hydrogen and electric vehicles. The proposed optimization frameworks are scalable and flexible for adaptation to several real contexts thus representing valid tools to provide support to decision-makers for ILECs planning and operational aspects.

August 2024

Marialaura Di Somma University of Naples Federico II

Christina Papadimitriou Eindhoven University of Technology-TU/e

Giorgio Graditi ENEA

Koen Kok Eindhoven University of Technology-TU/e

Marialaura Di Somma¹, Christina Papadimitriou², Giorgio Graditi¹, and Koen Kok²

¹ Italian National Agency for New Technologies, Energy and Sustainable Economic Development, Department of Energy Technologies and Renewable Sources, Lungotevere Thaon di Revel, 76, 00196, Rome, Italy ² Eindhoven University of Technology, Electrical Engineering Department, Groene Loper 3, 5612 AE, Eindhoven, the Netherlands

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 The Needs and Challenges of the Current Energy System

The present energy system faces several pressing needs. With a growing demand for energy driven by population growth, industrialization, and improved living standards, there is an urgency to meet it in a sustainable manner. Simultaneously, addressing climate change requires a transition to low-carbon or carbon-neutral energy sources. However, integrating renewable energy sources (RESs) poses challenges due to their converter-based, intermittent, and variable nature. To ensure a reliable and resilient power system, aging infrastructure needs to be upgraded and modernized. Grid resilience must also be enhanced to withstand extreme weather events, cyberattacks, and other disruptions. Furthermore, supporting the electrification of different sectors, e.g. heating, cooling, and transportation, necessitates infrastructure development and adequate grid capacity that is now lacking. To this end, advancements in energy storage technologies are also crucial. Lastly, improving energy efficiency across sectors is vital to reduce overall energy demand and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, which requires a combination of technological advancements and policy measures.

Addressing the aforementioned needs is not trivial and numerous challenges are present. Balancing energy supply with the ever-increasing demand is a hard task as it does not only presuppose upgrades in related infrastructure and equipment but also changes on how the operators schedule and manage the grid. Transitioning to low-carbon energy sources while ensuring a reliable and uninterrupted power supply poses a complex task that requires careful planning and investment. Integrating RES into the grid requires addressing the intermittency and variability associated with them, by necessitating innovative solutions for effective integration.

Moreover, upgrading and maintaining aging infrastructure presents financial and logistical challenges. Safeguarding the power grid against risks such as extreme weather events and cyberattacks requires robust strategies and investments in cybersecurity measures but also affects the "business as usual" in the operational planning of the operators. Advancing energy storage technologies is crucial for both dealing with the excess renewable energy and providing flexibility for balancing supply and demand. The electrification of various sectors presents several challenges that impact the power system overall. First, to satisfy all types of energy demands resulting from electrification, a significant amount of additional power network capacity is required. This includes accommodating the increased electricity consumption from transportation, buildings, and industry. Second, contingencies in the power system can have far-reaching consequences. Any disruption or failure can lead to power outages, affecting not only the resilience of the power system and of the electrified sectors but also the overall functioning of society. Grid stability and management become crucial factors in ensuring a reliable and resilient power supply in this case. As electrification changes the energy landscape, operators face new challenges in planning and scheduling. They must consider the increased complexity of managing diverse energy sources, grid capacity, and demand patterns to optimize system performance and ensure uninterrupted power supply.

As such, the distribution operators' planning and scheduling processes need to adapt to the evolving requirements of an electrified system to maintain efficient operations. Promoting energy-efficient practices and technologies across sectors requires changes in consumer behavior as well as supportive policies and incentives.

Finally, creating and implementing effective policies and regulations to facilitate the transition to a sustainable and resilient power system necessitates balancing the interests of different stakeholders and ensuring fair market competition.

Addressing these needs and challenges requires collaborative efforts from governments, energy providers, technology developers, researchers, and consumers to create a sustainable, secure, and affordable energy power system for the future.

1.1.2 What Is Sector Coupling?

Sector coupling originally referred to the electrification of end-use sectors such as heating, cooling, and transport, aiming at increasing the RES share in these sectors, based on the assumption that the electricity supply can be mostly renewable. More recently, the concept has been widened by also including supply-side sector coupling, integrating, for instance, power and gas sectors through power-to-gas (P2G) technologies. It must be highlighted that sector coupling is very similar to that of integrated energy systems, introduced by ETIP SNET Vision 2050 [1–3], defined as a *system of systems*. Namely, an integrated energy system is an integrated infrastructure for all energy carriers with the electrical system as a backbone, characterized by a high level of integration between all networks of energy carriers, coupling electrical networks with gas networks, heating, and cooling, supported by energy storage and conversion processes. The creation of these systems is based on the coordination of the planning and operation key processes. Within these processes, different types of energy systems across multiple geographical scales are considered



Figure 1.1 Representation of sector coupling concept. Source: Adapted from Van Nuffel et al. [4].

to foster reliability and efficiency in energy services while also minimizing negative environmental impacts [4]. The different sectors that can be involved under the concept of sector coupling are represented in Figure 1.1.

Two different strategies are considered under the concept of sector coupling, namely [5]:

- "End-user" sector coupling aiming at the electrification of end-use sectors and consisting of energy conversion technologies for electrification of final users' energy demand, thus enabling flexibility at the final users/prosumers level. An example of these technologies is well represented by electric vehicles (EVs) allowing for the electrification of the transport sector.
- "Cross-vector" sector coupling aiming at integrating multiple energy carriers mainly linking electricity and gas sectors through P2G technologies that can be used to produce hydrogen or synthetic methane when excess renewable electricity is available. The produced gas can be then stored for later re-conversion into electricity when renewable electricity supply is insufficient (and hence high electricity prices), by using the so-called power-to-gas-to-power process. On the other hand, electricity can be produced by hydrogen through fuel cells. Another alternative is that the hydrogen produced can be processed into methane or liquid fuel like methanol by making it reacts with CO or CO₂, the so-called power-to-liquid route. These fuels can be used in transport sectors such as shipping.

The combination of these two strategies allows increasing the flexibility of the energy system, while also supporting RES integration through optimal use strategies.

A good example was already provided above, but there is another key example represented by Power-to-Heat technology such as heat pumps. These latter, especially when combined with thermal storage, allow for thermal energy production in periods with excess renewable electricity which can be then stored and re-used in periods with insufficient renewable electricity, thereby representing a cost-effective and efficient solution.

1.2 Opportunities for Sector Coupling to Contribute to Decarbonization

1.2.1 Electrification and Sector Coupling

Electrification in power systems refers to the process of transitioning from traditional, fossil fuel-based energy sources to electrical power for various applications. It involves replacing the direct use of fossil fuels, such as gasoline and natural gas, with electricity as the primary source of energy.

The concept of electrification has gained significant attention in recent years due to its potential to reduce GHG emissions and combat climate change. So, electrification is one of the main drivers of energy transition as it is perceived nowadays and a reliable solution for effective decarbonization at the end user's side.

Therefore, the electrification scenario can be applied in different sectors. Some examples that can foster electrification are given below:

- **Transportation:** Electrification of transportation involves transitioning from conventional internal combustion engines (ICEs) to EVs. This shift reduces reliance on fossil fuels, decreases air pollution, and offers opportunities for smart charging and integration with the grid, e.g. with vehicle-to-grid (V2G) services. EVs can expand services to other vectors/domains as well through the so-called V2X services. For example, in a V2Home scenario, EVs can supply power to homes during power outages or peak demand periods.
- **Residential and commercial buildings:** Electrifying buildings involves replacing fossil fuel-based heating systems, such as oil or natural gas furnaces, with electric heat pumps. An instance is provided in Figure 1.2. This approach reduces carbon emissions, improves energy efficiency, and enables demand response programs.
- **Industrial processes:** Electrification can also be applied to various industrial processes. For example, using electric furnaces instead of traditional fuel-based furnaces in manufacturing reduces emissions and provides more precise temperature control. Electrification can also power other industrial equipment, such as pumps and motors.

Although electrification presents direct benefits such as reduced GHG emissions and air quality improvement, it also presents challenges that are difficult to overcome. The most persistent challenges of electrification are discussed below.

One significant challenge is the need for additional power network capacity to accommodate the increased demand from electrified sectors related to transportation and buildings. This requires substantial investments in grid infrastructure,



Figure 1.2 The transition from the present to the Integrated Systems approach.

such as new transmission lines, substations, and distribution networks, to ensure a reliable and resilient electricity supply. Another challenge lies in maintaining stability in the power system, as the integration of RES and the growth of decentralized generation introduce variability and uncertainty. Robust contingency plans and advanced grid management techniques are necessary to handle potential disruptions and ensure system reliability. Grid stability and energy balancing also become crucial considerations, as the intermittent nature of RES and the varying electricity consumption patterns of electrified sectors can impact the balance between electricity supply and demand. Effective energy storage solutions, demand response programs, and grid control mechanisms are required to stabilize the grid and optimize energy utilization. Finally, operators' planning and scheduling become more complex due to the increased number of distributed energy resources, EVs, and flexible loads. Advanced modeling, forecasting, and optimization tools are essential for operators to efficiently plan, schedule, and manage the operation of the power system while considering factors such as demand fluctuations, charging infrastructure availability, and grid constraints.

Nevertheless, if electrification is enhanced by the sector coupling approach that fosters coordinated management and operation of different sectors, then the challenges identified above can be lifted to a certain extent. In Figure 1.2, the current energy system is compared with the electrified and the integrated energy system paradigm. In specific, an example of electrifying the heat demand is shared. In the present, heat demand is covered by gas-fired boilers, whereas in an electrified future the heat demand is covered by electric heat pumps powered by the electricity network. Through the sector coupling approach, the electrified system is further enhanced. In fact, in such a system, multiple hybrid energy technologies are managed with high synergy to satisfy the multi-energy demand, and services can be provided with the most convenient energy carrier and sector. Moreover, sector coupling allows increasing efficiency in the energy resources use through exploiting synergies coming from interplay of different energy carriers and reduction of RES curtailment. In practice, for instance, in case of excess electricity from RES, it can be converted into gas as hydrogen or synthetic methane through P2G technologies, stored and/or transported by existing gas infrastructures for immediate or later usage, or re-converted again into electricity when renewable electricity supply is insufficient to satisfy the loads.

1.2.2 Enhancing System Stability and Reliability at the Grid Level Through Sector Coupling

As mentioned, sector coupling refers to the seamless integration, coordination, and operation of different energy sectors, leveraging the synergies between them. By combining the power grid with heating/cooling systems, transportation infrastructure, and other sectors, sector coupling offers numerous benefits that contribute to enhanced power system stability and reliability. An integrated grid can be seen in Figure 1.3. Five different carriers (water, electricity, heating, cooling, and gas) are



Figure 1.3 Overview of an integrated grid through sector coupling. Source: Adapted from Papadimitrou et al. [6].

seen integrated through the existence of conversion and hybrid technologies along with storage (thermal, electrical, hydrogen, EVs), allowing the interaction and collaboration of the different carriers when needed.

One of the key advantages of sector coupling is improved grid stability through flexibility and redundancy. The integration of diverse energy sources, such as wind and solar, with complementary technologies like heat pumps or combined heat and power (CHP), enables the balancing of fluctuating supply and demand. This flexibility allows for more efficient management of energy flows and reduces the risk of grid instability, ensuring a reliable power supply even in the presence of intermittent RES.

Additionally, sector coupling enhances power quality and resilience. By integrating energy storage systems into the grid, excess renewable energy can be stored and released when needed to the electricity grid or other carrier as already explained, smoothing out variations and mitigating voltage fluctuations. Furthermore, the coupling of heating, cooling, and power systems enables the utilization of waste heat from power generation, improving overall energy efficiency and reducing reliance on fossil fuels.

Another benefit of sector coupling is its ability to facilitate demand response schemes and load balancing. By integrating intelligent demand response mechanisms, consumers can adjust their energy consumption from technologies residing in different carriers based on grid conditions, helping stabilize the system during peak demand periods. This dynamic interaction between the power system and end-users – that can expand to all carriers – contributes to grid reliability and reduces the need for costly infrastructure upgrades.

Furthermore, the integration of EVs plays a crucial role in sector coupling. EVs can act as mobile energy storage units, offering grid support through V2G technology. During times of high electricity demand, EVs can supply power back to the grid, supporting grid stability and reducing stress on the power system. This bidirectional flow of energy optimizes resource utilization and enhances the reliability of the grid.

However, the successful implementation of sector coupling is not without its challenges. Interoperability and system integration pose significant technical hurdles. Different sectors often use diverse technologies, protocols, and communication systems, requiring seamless coordination and interoperability to ensure efficient energy sharing and control. Standardization efforts and collaboration among stakeholders are crucial to overcome these barriers. Furthermore, the maturity of technologies and the availability of sustainable business models are critical considerations. While some sector coupling technologies, such as heat pumps or CHPs, have matured, others, like P2G, may still be in the early stages of development. Policy and regulatory frameworks also need to adapt to support sector coupling. Clear guidelines and incentives are required to encourage cross-sector integration and investment. Additionally, social acceptance and public engagement are vital to address concerns, educate the public, and promote behavioral changes necessary for successful sector coupling implementation. In conclusion, by integrating different sectors and leveraging the synergies between them, sector coupling enables flexibility, resilience, and optimized resource utilization. Overcoming technical, regulatory, and social challenges will be crucial to realizing the full potential of sector coupling and building a more stable, reliable, and sustainable power system for the future.

1.2.3 Decarbonization of Heating and Cooling in Building Environment (End-User Level) Through Sector Coupling

Today, energy consumption for heating and cooling in the building environment at the end-user level is responsible for a notable share of GHG in industrialized countries such as Europe. Sector coupling offers a great opportunity for decarbonization of final energy use for heating and cooling purposes through several technologies that can be classified into three categories: (i) technologies making direct use of renewable energy such as solar thermal, geothermal energy, or biomass heating; (ii) technologies making indirect use of renewable energy through electrification, such as electric heat pumps; and (iii) cross-vector integration technologies such as CHP or combined cooling heat and power (CCHP). According to Ref. [4], electric reversible heat pumps represent the best option for decarbonizing this specific sector in European countries, and this is mainly due to the good technical performance of this technology represented by a high coefficient of performance, being then followed by CHP for large applications and district heating. The latter also represents one of the main solutions for the decarbonization of heating demand in the building environment especially when based on RES as biomass heating or solar thermal, while also offering a great potential for the sector coupling strategies presented in Section 1.2. In fact, heat pumps and CHPs can be used with optimized strategies in a complementary manner, with the former operating in periods with low electricity prices and the latter operating in periods with higher electricity prices. However, the lack and inadequacy of existing infrastructures is the main barrier to deployment of this technology as it may require significant investments in new assets.

Another benefit represented by heat pumps and CHPs when coupled with thermal storage is represented by the provision of ancillary services to the electrical network [7]. A practical example is given by heat pumps decreasing the produced thermal energy without compromising the user's comfort due to building thermal inertia, thereby providing ancillary services. On the other hand, CHPs also can provide flexibility services to the power system, by decoupling the production of electricity and heat through thermal storage depending on the demand [8].

Another promising option to electric heating for decarbonization of this sector is represented by small-scale micro-CHP that allows for the reduction of distribution network costs, by replacing gas-fired plants. This technology can provide firm capacity (assuming it is able to be managed to provide capacity during non-curtailable or non-shiftable peak demand occurrences) while improving conversion efficiency, since the thermal energy produced recovered from electricity generation is not wasted but used to meet local heat demand.

1.3 European Energy Legislation and Initiatives Supporting Sector Coupling

The European energy legislation on energy transition sets forth a visionary path, aiming to foster the transition from traditional fossil fuel-based energy sources to cleaner, renewable alternatives. Toward this, directives at the European Union (EU) level on energy transition were issued some years ago and have been regularly updated ever since. Directives are assumed to be transpositioned at the EU member state level and put in context. Policy measures and initiatives that are supportive are also propelling Europe toward a sustainable and low-carbon future. In the next subsections, the most recent developments that are sector coupling supportive are briefly discussed, whereas Chapter 2 dives deeper into the EU policy.

1.3.1 Directives

Clean Energy for All Europeans Package [9]: Since 2018, the EU adopted the Clean Energy Package, which consists of several directives and regulations aimed at accelerating the clean energy transition. The package includes measures promoting sector coupling by encouraging the integration of renewable energy in various sectors and promoting energy storage and demand response technologies. In specific, the package includes the Renewable Energy Directive (RED II) [10]. The RED II sets binding targets for renewable energy consumption in the EU. It promotes sector coupling by establishing a framework for supporting the use of renewable energy in heating and cooling as well as in the transport sector. It encourages the production and use of advanced biofuels and renewable gases, such as biomethane and hydrogen. The Energy Efficiency Directive (EED) [11] sets out binding energy efficiency targets and measures to promote energy efficiency across different sectors. It encourages the use of energy-efficient technologies and promotes the integration of energy systems through the utilization of waste heat, CHP systems, and district heating and cooling networks. Energy Performance of Buildings Directive (EPBD) [12]: The EPBD focuses on enhancing the energy performance of buildings by promoting energy-efficient renovations and setting minimum energy performance standards for new constructions. The new smart readiness indicator (SRI) for buildings addresses sector coupling through the promotion of flexibility and mobility integration in buildings. In addition, the Energy Market Directive - EMD II [13] aims to create a competitive and integrated electricity market within the EU. It emphasizes the integration of RESs and the improvement of cross-border electricity trading. Energy Infrastructure Regulation (TEN-E) aims to facilitate the development of cross-border energy infrastructure, including electricity and gas projects, to strengthen energy security and support the integration of RESs. The Alternative Fuels Infrastructure Directive (AFID) aims to facilitate the deployment of alternative fuels infrastructure, such as EV charging stations and refueling stations for hydrogen and natural gas.